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JOHNNIE COX, WASH TRAJERN, JOHN McMULLIN AND OTHERS .. ..

Up to a few years ago the authority on the early history of
San Joaquin City was William Cox. Until recently he lived on
the large family ranch on William Cox Road, just south of
Vernalis in Stanislaus County. Now his son, William, Jr., tells
the story of his grandfather, Johnnie Cox, a true pioneer of
San Joaquin City. For years he drove the stagecoach between
Bantas and the PachecoPass. From one end of the stage line
to the other he knew everything that transpired along the
route, and this was where the early history was made on the
West Side.

This route, for years simply called the River Road,
developed along the west side of the San Joaquin River,
keeping to the high ground out (southeast) of Bantas and
skirting the tule bottoms. It intersected with the Stockton-San
Jose stage route at a point a little less than a half mile north
of the present Banta school. At this intersection the Elkhorn
Inn and stage station was established, the first structure at
the settlement of Bantas. At the time the land between there
and the river was heavily wooded, as was most of the land
along the west bank of the river through which the road
passed, all the way to Hill’'s Ferry down near the mouth of the
Merced River. Between the two points it passed through San
Joaquin City and Graysonville. From Hill's Ferry it turned
away from the river, toward the southwest, entering the
Pacheco Pass where the San Luis Dam is today. The portion
of the old road lying in San Joaquin County was renamed
Kasson Road, but in Stanislaus County it is still called the
River Road.

Down this old road one day in 1849 rode two Mexican War
veterans recently discharged from the service, and with
their arrival at Imus’s Casa Blanca we once more pick up the
story of San Joaquin City. These two men were Captain John
McMullin and George Washington Trajern, and with them
were about a half-dozen other veterans. At Casa Blanca they
forded the San Joaquin and headed east along the Stanislaus,
bound for the Southern Mines. Their brief visit at. and
passage through, the site was destined to change the history
of that area.

After a brief try at mining the two men turned their
thoughts toward other money-making schemes and the result
was their decision to go into the cattle business, buying them
in Los Angeles and driving them to the mines where they
would be butchered. The men returned to Casa Blanca and
from there proceeded south to Los Angeles. In due time the
men were back, having driven their herd north over the

Tehachapis and down the valley to the ford at Casa Blanca.
Once in the mines the cattle were quickly sold at a handsome
profit as the miners were short of meat and long on gold to
payv for it.

Back once more at the crossing of the San Joaquin, where
the two men had become acquainted with Charles Imus and
his family, they realized that this river ford would be
essential to their continued operations. Captain McMullin
concluded that this would be a good location for their
headquarters, so they bought the 640 acres that the Imus
familyv held along the river at Casa Blanca. As the lucrative
cattle business continued to grow Captain McMullin and
Wash Trajern invested their profits in more land to add to
their Casa Blanca acreage, until their holdings approxi-
mated 30,000 acres of land lying between the Stanislaus
tnorth side) and San Joaquin (east side) rivers in Castoria
Township. Here they engaged in the raising of livestock, even
extending their horse-breeding operations to the Diablan
range of mountains between Corral Hollow and Del Puerto
Canyon (west of Patterson) where the horses seemed to
thrive better than down on the plains.

Captain McMullin in particular had had an interesting
background before his arrival in California. He had been
born in Baltimore, Maryland. in June of 1824, and at the ripe
old age of 15 he left home and made his way alone out to
Texas where he caught up to and joined a detachment of
troops under the command of a military hero of the day,
Colonel Jack Havs. For nine years he served under Colonel
Havs. fighting Indians, making raids into Mexico, and
suffering the usual hardships of army duty on the western
frontier. He was captured by Mexican troops during the
Mexican-American War and spent two years in Mexico City.
He gained his freedom through a prisoner exchange in early
1848. about the same time that gold was discovered at
Coloma on the American River.

He had alreadyv decided to establish himself in California
when news of the gold strike reached Mexico and he
proceeded northward via the Mexican overland route
through Vera Cruz. A companion on his journey from Mexico
was G. W. Trajern, a half-breed Cherokee Indian who had
fought with him through the Mexican War. He had been
christened George Washington Trajern but was simply
known as Wash Trajern.

On a trip to Washington, D.C., Captain McMullin met Miss
Eliza Fleming Morgan, a native of Kentucky. The
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CAPTAIN JOHN McMULLIN, pioneer resident of
San Joagquin City and large landowner in southern
San Joaguin County.

acquaintance culminated in their marriage in her home in
Kentucky on June 18, 1837. After a honeymoon trip to White
Chapel Springs, Virginia, they came back to San Francisco
where he bought a home, After a time she expressed a wish to
be where her husband’s business interests were, however. so
he had Casa Blanca fitted up for her reception. They lived
there until the Captain’s death in 1868, when she moved back
to Kentucky. In the last years before his death McMullin
enlarged his holdings along with his partner. Trajern. in the
south central part of San Joaquin County, and thev also
increased their control of the open lands in the coast range
hills. This latter area was vast. and it was used primarily as
spring and summer pasturage for their ever-increasing
numbers of cattle, sheep, and horses. Establishment of this
great stock ranch predated those of the AMiller and Lux
corporation by many vears, In addition to his ranching
interests, he helped organize the first San Joaquin County
fair association and served as its first president. In addition
to his real estate holdings around San Joaquin City, he also
personally owned the first theatre in Stockon as well as some
acreage back in Texas.

Less is known of Trajern’s early life, but there is no doubt
about his ability as a businessman. Aiong with the
partnership holdings he also acquired thousands of acres of
fertile lands north of the Stanislaus on his own, He was a
great sportsman, alwayvs doing his hunting on horseback with
the help of his ever-present pack of great hound-dogs. He took
special delight in hunting the wild hogs which then inhabited
the river bottom lands. Although described as a hard-liver
with a devil-may-care attitude, he was a lovable person who
was always actively interested in the general welfare of his
tfriends. The diaries of Edward B. Carrell confirm this
analysis of his character. Trajern had charge of the sheep
operatton for the partnership, and came intofrequent contact
with Carrell up at Corral Hollow. The McMullin and Trajern
roads in southern Castoria Township todav serve as a
reminder of that particular period of the history of San

Joaquin County and of the successful farming partnership
engaged in by these two pioneer settlers.

Upon McMullin's death in 1868 ownership of the Casa
Blanca passed to a certain Larry B. Holt who had come to
San Joaquin City three vears earlier. Then Henry Fiske, a
farmer, stock raiser. and ferry operator who had come in
1850. acquired it. Later it became the property of John Ohm,
and the Ohms have built two homes in succession since then,
the last of which was constructed in 1907. During the time
that the family resided in the second home the original home
building 1Casa Blanca was used as a bunkhouse for the farm
hands.

AN EARLY BURIAL

The riverbanks and sloughs between Casa Blanca and
Gravsonville near the mouth of the Tuolumne River were
prolific breeding grounds for fur-bearing animals. From the
time of the Walker expedition in 1833 there had always been
trappers working along the river bottom lands. Indeed, the
clerk of the expedition (as chronicled earlier) had noted
signs of previous white visitors in the area. Certainly the
camping place of the Walker expedition was ““the end of the
Far South™ to the Hudson Bay trappers, and the Russians
from Fort Ross may have visited it in 1834 or before. At the
time McMullin and Trajern settled there ten or twelve
trappers had already established their separate camps
between Casa Blanca and Grayson’s Ferry. Most of these
trappers were {(as far as trappers are concerned) relatively
late comers, a number of them being Mexican War
acquaintances of the two men.

On a visit to the cabin of one of these trapper friends one
summer day, Trajern found his unfortunate acquaintance
dead. Having no relatives or anyone else to make the
arrangements for his funeral and disposal of the remains,
Trajern notified his partner McMullin and Edward Carrell
tboth fellow-veterans of the deceased), as well as Nathaniel
Greene Patterson (whose name is remembered by Patterson
Pass southwest of Tracy and for his services as a wagon train
guide during the 1840's:. There were some twelve in number,
all told. who met and together they decided to give the
trapper a full military funeral befitting a veteran of the
Mexican War.

The trouble was that there was no church or minister, no
undertaker or cemeteryv in San Joaquin City. The decision
was made to transport the deceased to Graysonville, where
suthcient facilities were available. They made a coffin of
rough boards and loaded it on a wagon drawn by two mules
and driven by an old teamster, Driving to the trapper’s cabin
they performed the sad duties of the undertaker, closing the
cotfin and loading it on the wagon for the trip te Graysonville.

At that time River Road was of course nothing more than
two wagon wheel tracks following closely along the
riverbank and running through the majestic oaks. Being a
summer dav the road was dusty and the air hot and
uncomiortable. smoke-filled from the perennial fires which
burned among the tules to the north and northwest. The
cavalcade of mounted mourners, following behind, traveled
two by two, their bandana handkerchiefs covering their
mouths and noses for protection from the swirling dust. In
spite of the discomfort all was going well until a lone coyote
blundered out of the brush and onto the roadway ahead of the
wagon. Immediately Wash Trajern’s hounds took off after
the covote, chasing him into the underbrush along the edge of
the water. Moments later the frightened coyote, closely
pursued by the hounds. elected to come out into the open
agam and tried to find sanctuary from his pursuers by
running in under the wagon. This caused the frightened
mules to suddenly jolt forward, off and running down the
roadway. The runaway team and wagon kept to the road but
a short time, veering off to the left and down into the



SAN JOAQUIN HISTORIAN

PAGE 25

TALES OF OLD SAN JOAQUIN CITY (con’t)

bottomland on the edge of the road at this point. Here the
wagon overturned, wedging itself between two trees as the
territied mules broke loose and took off into the brush. The
mounted veterans, regaining their composure, took after the
mules and eventually ecaught up to them and lassoed them.
By the time the wagon had been righted and repaired and the
damaged coflin reloaded the sun was down so the men
decided to camp on the spot for the night. The entourage
proceeded to its destination the following morning and the
interment took place at Gravsonville as planned.

This was one of the many stories that Johnnie Cox. the
proneer stagecoach driver. liked to recount in his later vears
at San Joaquin City. Other stories that have come down to us
through his family also help give us some insight into the
dailv life and activities of these riverbank pioneers. He told
of the loading of the first boats and barges with cordwood and
grain: of how the contractor would sit on the edge of the river
dock when the task was done, paying each laborer for his hire
out of a sack of gold there on the dock beside him. He told how
the wild oats and the filaree grew waist-high out on the plains
before the introduction of the farmers’ plow. and how great
bands of sheep tthe “mortgage lifters™ of these pioneer
seltlers) from the Corral Hollow area would move in and cut
it down with one pass over the fields,

Another tale concerned a sheepman and meat dealer, a
certain Tom Evans by name, who had his principal place of
business over at El Nido (The Nest) on the high road -- the
French Camp toll road to Stockton, There he maintained
corrals for the cattle, pens for the sheep with facilities for
dipping them, and his slaughter-house for the supply of fresh
meat for Stockton. Tom was a frequent visitor in old San
Joaquin City, making the trip on horseback for the purpose of
buving sheep and cattie. He had a tent in the tent settlement
that had developed down near Durham’'s Ferry: this he had
set up for his convenience and that of his men whenever any
had to stay overnight.

HOME AND FAMILY OF GEORGE W. SUTHERLAND, first
bridge tender at Mossdale Y. Note bridge v the
background. The house was located on the east bank of the

o one sheep-buving trip to San Joagquin City Evans had
~pent most of the dayv out on the plains with the sheepmen.
Tired at the end of the hot summer day, he had stopped at the
West Sude Saloon for a while. The result was that, when he
lnraliy lelt the establishment fast that night. he was a little
“the worse for the weather™ - if not thoroughly inebriated.
Gther patrons helped him to mount his horse, and with a little
ettort, he was able to stay on until the horse delivered him to
the entrance ot his tent down by the ferrv. Before
disniounting 1o put the horse up for the night he had
untastened the leather pouch of gold that he was in the habit
ol varrying on the saddle girth and. as he had on previous
ovcustans, gave it a good hefty sling in through the front
enlrance ot the tent.

Alter he had unsaddled., fed. and put up his horse in a shed
he had theve tor that purpose. Tom Evans repaired to his tent
and went right to sleep. When he awoke the next morning he
eowlid not tind his pouch of gold any place in the tent. It had
heen heavy with gold and in his frantic search he practically
tore the tent to pleces. He then went up to San Joaguin City
and accused the saloon keeper and everyone who had been in
the place the previous night of robbery, threatening them all
with Jegal action, or worse. if the leather pouch were not
returned to him intact,

Alew davs later some boyvs plaving in the tall grass behind
the tent tound the pouch of gold. In his drunken condition
Evans had evidently slung it with such foree that it had gone
clear through the tent. It was a pretty chastened and penitent
Tom Evans whoreceived his pouch of gold from the citizens
of old san Joaquin City on his next buving trip.

FERRY CROSSINGS
ALONG THE SAN JOAQUIN
The Douk and Bonsall Ferry (Mossdale “Y') was

extablished in November. 1848, the first one in San Joaquin
County. Because it was the first ferrv crossing to be

%

San Joaquin River. between the road crossing and the Central
Pacihie trow Southern Pacific) Railrcad crossing.
Courtesy of the Pioneer Museum and Haggin Galleries.
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established along the San Joaquin River it enjoved a
complete monopoly for a time, charging outrageous rates for
the service: $2.00 per person. $1.00 per head for cattle, and
$8.00 {or a wagon, team, and driver. For a time the owners
took in several thousand dollars per day. It was not long
hefore competition came along however, with the establish-
ment of three other ferries along the San Joaquin. These
were Slocum’s, Johnson's (mentioned previously !, and the
Titus-Manly Ferry at San Joaquin City. Of the three, only
Johnson’s Ferry was ever any real threat to the Doak and
Bonsall operation due to its use by the Stockton-San Jose
stagecoach lines.

Gravson's Ferrv on the San Joaquin was founded by A. J.
Gravson in 1830, approximately eight miles above (south of
the mouth of the Tuolumne River. Following the relatively
short-lived gold rush period little growth occurred at
Gravson's but the ferrv remained in operation until the
development of grain farming created a “‘boom™ for the
settiement. The building of the Southern Pacific Railroad
along the West Side in the middle 1880°s brought an end to
Gravson's prosperity once more, but the settlement has
survived down to the present time. In 1893 a bridge replaced
the ferry, In turn the first bridge was replaced by a second
one, as noted in the following article in the Stockton Record of
December 26, 1961:

This bridge | first one | was replaced in 1961 at the age of

68 years -- it having been built and completed April 10, 1893.

[t was one of the last remaining structures which

tlourished when the San Joaquin River was the scene of

riverboat traffie. This old bridge was on the old San

Joaquin river channel near Grayson. Heavy floods in the

1890's and again in 1911 caused a break-through of Laird

Slough to the east, and the new bridge will be constructed

SITE OF THE DURHAM FERRY CROSSING on
the San Joaguin River at San Joaquin City. This

there. A smaller bridge will replace the San Joaquin river

bridee. as there is some {low in the old channel at times

ol high tloods.

At the e the first bridge was opened river traflic was
~tillvery heavy on the San Joaguin, extending as far south as
Frrebaugh, Many thousands of tons of grain were hauled by
v er steamers and barges each vear down the San Joaquin.
Comimg up the river these boats brought supplies to the
settlers and scattered farm families on the plains.

Durham Ferry roriginally Titus and Manly's Ferry) was
extablixhed in the fall of 1849 to gccommodate the traffic
conting down out of Corral Hollow and heading for the Sierra
Nevada, Although some preferred crossing at the Doak and
Bonsall Ferry nine miles downriver, the majority of
argonau!s heading for the Southern Mines took the wagon
road which turned sharply southeast out of Corral Hollow and
{ollowed the old Spanish road (El Camino Viejo) as far as
Hoxpital Creek. At this point they turned east and headed for
Durham Ferry. This was the favored route in winter
particularly because it followed high ground with a gravel
base the whole wav,

This terry was located about a quarter mile from San
Joaguin City, at the site of the present Airport Way bridge
over the San Joaquin. The Doak and Bonsall Ferry and the
Weston and Staples’ Ferrv, on the Mokelumne between
Stockton and Sacramento, were the first and second
extablished in the county. and Durham Ferry was the third.
11 the vearly license fees assessed to the river ferries in June
of 1850 can be taken as criteria, these three were first, third,
and tourth in importance in San Joaquin County. Knight’s
Ferryv on the Stanislaus River, which was in San Joaquin
County at that time, was second in importance:

Doak and Bonsall's Ferry $500.00

view looks eastward alongside the present Awport
Way bridge.
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Knight's Ferrv (Dent, Vantine & Co.) on
the Stanislaus River 300.00

Ferry at San Joaqguin City, San Joagyuin River 250.00

Weston and Staples” Ferry, Mokelumne River . . . . 250,001

There were twelve ferries operating in the county at that
tune and a thirteenth, that of James Boland at Stanislaus
Citv son the Stanislaus River), was authorized in the same
month.

The first operators of Durham's Ferry were two men
named Titus and Manly. A little tent, and later a house and
store, were erected on the north side of the west approach to
the ferry, at the intersection of River Road (now Kasson
Road) and Durham Ferry tnow Airport Way) Road. These
served as living quarters for the ferry tender and his family
and sleeping quarters for travelers. The ferry tender also
carried a small stock of groceries, liguors, tobacco, and some
mining implements. The latter items were often received in
trade for ferry rides from luckless miners returning from the
Mother Lode. These were then re-sold to those going to the
mines. The ferrv and the road it served took their name from
the second operator of the facilities. Years later the ferry
came into the possession of one of the largest landholders of
the arca. Henry Fisk, Sr,, who owned it until the County
replaced it with a steel bridge in 1902. The last ferry operator
was John A. Rathjen. Sr., who farmed for many years
hetween Bantas and San Joaquin City after his arrival from
Germany in 1869,

This first bridge was built by the Clarke and Henery
Construction Company of Stockton and John Ohm, who came
to San Joaguin City in 1896, took charge of opening and

ORIGINAL DURHAM FERRY BRIDGE, construct-
ed in 1802 and replaced by the present bridge in
1966. Note the steel super-structure which made it
possible to open the bridge for passing boats.

Courtesy of the author.

closing the bridge whenever river boats passed. In 1966 this
marrow steel structure was replaced by the present, modern
strueture which was constructed just a few feet to the north
ol the original one. The approaches on both sides were
conseguently re-aligned slightly, and widened. The year
betore the name of the road had been changed to Airport Way
cast of the bridge to match the name given to Sharpes Lane
and Gphir Street in Stockton. From Kasson Road westward
the road eontinues to bear its original name.

THE RISE AND FALL OF 8SAN JOAQUIN CITY

san Joaguin City actually developed pretty much all along
the west bank of the San Joaquin River from Durham’s Ferry

south to where Greenwood Road runs into Kasson (River)
Road just above the Stanislaus County line. It was at this
lowest pont that Captain Imus had located his original log
cabin, The earliest maps of San Joaquin County show
Greenwood Road extending east bevond Kasson Road, right
up to the river bank, with the location of the Imus structure
marked. The Stockton Weekly Times began publication on
March 16, 1850, and from time to time reported the news of
sanJoaguin City, On April 6, 1850, it published the returns for
the first election held in the new settlement:; J, Van Camp
wax elected Justice of the Peace. The April 27, 1850 issue of
the Times noted the visit of a steamer, the Georgina, to San
Joaquin City, and about a week later (May 4) it mentioned
that the settlement then consisted of about six wooden houses
plus a number of tents?

Following John McMullin’s death in 1868 Imus's Casa
Blanca home was bought, along with a large acreage. by
Larrv B. Holt, He had come to California in 1859 and to San
Joaguin City in 1865. At one time he owned a block of land
extending all the way from the Gumtree Ranch to Blewett
Koad in Stanislaus Countv (the intake canal of the
Banta-Carbona Irrigation District is on the Gumtree Ranch).
He sold much of this land to George M. Kasson and Louie
Gerlach.? but in 1879 he still owned 1825 acres. 1t was during
the time that Holt owned the land, in 1869, that streets were
actually laid out and lots were offered for sale in San Joaquin
City, More about this later.

Holt and his wife tore down Imus’s Casa Blanca and used
the timbers and siding, along with other lumber brought
around the Horn and delivered to San Joaquin City in a
satling schooner, in building a new home under the large oaks
¢lose to the river. This house was put together with wooden
pegs and square nails made of wrought iron. Later it was
acquired by H. Fiske? and still later by the John Ohm
familv. Ohm built a new home after living in Holt’'s Casa
Blanca tor a while. and at that time the latter was converted
into living quarters for the ranch hands working on the Ohm
ranch. The structure was finally torn down, along with a
number of other ranch buildings originally built by Holt, as
well as some of the later business buildings, and much of the
lumber was used to build barns and sheds on the Ohm
property.

John Ohm and his brother Jacob had purchased
approximately 1,200 acres of the Holt property about the turn
ol the century. This block of land lies south of the section line
that passes through the site of San Joaquin City, and it is
presently owned by the descendents of these two brothers.

The Holt property lying north of the section line, and
extending north as far as the Durham Ferry Road, was
purchased by Henry C. Fisk, Sr.. in the 1890's. A native of
Hamburg. Germany, Fisk came to the United States in 1868
with his sister Cecelia and to San Joaquin City in 1891, Fisk
married Rebecca Von Bremen, a native of Bremen,
Germany, and his sister Cecelia married Larry B. Holt, Fisk
worked for his sister's husband for some time, finally
acquiring 1100 acres of the Holt property.5 Their first child
was Henry C. Fisk, Jr.. who with his son Harry are the
present owners of the Fisk ranch. Barns and sheds on this
ranch were constructed with timbers as well as one-inch
thick redwood siding also taken from pioneer San Joaquin
City buildings.

The establishment of a post office in July, 1851, helped
assure the continued development of the new settlement, and
hy this time several stage coach lines were running daily
coaches through the bustling little city. Ernest C. Schnabel
was born on his father’s ranch in the mouth of Hospital
Canvon southwest of Vernalis) and like his father spent a
lite-time in and around the San Joaquin City area. Both knew
much of the earlv history of the area. According to his father,
at the height of its development in the late 1860's and early
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the San Joaquin River. At the time of its construction (about
1870) Holt dismantled the Casa Blanca which Captain Imus
had built and he used that lumber in building the new

1870°s, San Joaquin Citv had between 1,000 and 1,400
inhabitants. It had almost a dozen saloons, a half-dozen
stores, a stage station, several livery stables, blacksmith
shops and barber shops, a bakery and a laundry, three hotels,
and a church. The latter was the San Joaquin Plains Baptist
Church, organized in 1869 by the Reverend H. M. Hamilton, A

THE DREYER HOTEL AND SALOON at San Joaquin City.
Seated at the far right on the steps of the porch (in white) is
Ana Dreyer. sister to Charlie Dreyer who operated the
business. Ana married Herman Hilken in 1894 in San
Francisco. In keeping with tradition they came back to their
home town for the wedding reception and dance - both of

ORIGINAL LARRY B. HOLT HOME near the west bank of

SAN JOAQUIN HISTORIAN

structure. Later the two-story building saw service as a
bunkhouse for the men employed on the Ohm ranch. This
photograph was probably taken in the early 1930's. Note the
snow on the ground. Courtesy of the author.

cemetery was established adjacent to the church at the same
time. The church and cemetery were situated on the east side
of River (Kasson) Road, some distance south of the Ohm
ranch home and buildings, and close to the river. Years later
high waters of the river cut away the back portion of the
cemetery. After its abandonment vandals began the

which were held in the dance hall above the livery stable. Ana
was the mother of Bertha and Josie Hilken. Bertha married A.
J (Tom) Rhodes. Their two children are Earl Rhodes and Mrs.
Jean Niblett. The man with his right hand on his hip is John
Ohm. another pioneer settler at San Joaquin City.

Courtesy of the author.
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A 1962 PHOTOGRAPH of all that
remained of the San Joaquin City
cemetery at that time. Note the river
channel immediately behind the post
and broken headstone. The river
washed away the back portion of the
cemetery years ago, burying a number
of headstones under tons of soil.

Courtesy of the author,

systematic destruction of the remaining markers. Today
nothing remains to mark the final resting place of many of
the community’'s earliest residents.

Schnabel’s description of San Joaquin City has been
substantially corroborated by the descendents of other
pioneer residents of the area, including Henry C. Fisk, Jr.,
Mrs. A. J. (Tom) Rhodes, daughter of Anna Dreyer Hilken
who grew up in San Joaquin City, and the late Mrs. Henry C.
(Lillian) Ohm.

In 1869 the bustling city was laid out in a perfect square of
twelve hundred feet. (Of course by this time many people had
already built homes and business buildings outside of this
area.) Within the square were twelve city blocks, each 200 by
300 feet. *‘Durham’s Levee,” along the San Joaquin river,
served as the east boundary as well as the boat docking area.
The streets were all eighty feet wide, and all parallel or at
right angles to each other. It is interesting to note, however,
that although the Mount Diablo base line had already been
established by the Whitney Geological Survey team, the city
seems to have been laid out in relation to the old Greenwood
Road instead.

The streets running parallel to Greenwood Road were,
from north to south, North, Main, Centre, Ellis, and South
streets, The streets parallel to Kasson Road, from west to
east, were West, Sherman, and Front (then River Road and
now Kasson Road) streets, To the east of Front Street lay
Durham’s Levee with its row of oak trees that served as
anchors for the mooring lines of the river boats.

Sherman Street was named for William Tecumseh
Sherman of Civil War fame and one of the most famous
military leaders in American history. Ellis Street was named
after the new town of Ellis Station on the Central Pacific
Railroad line three miles west of the present city of Tracy.
Ellis received a sudden boost soon after its founding when
most of the residents of Wickland on the Old River moved to
the new railroad town, taking many of their buildings with
them. By November of 1870 this new town contained some
forty-five or fifty buildings (not counting the outhouses!) of
all descriptions. in ing two hotels, two stores, an 0dd
Fellows Kall, stables, a blacksmith shop. warehouses,
saloons, and & large teaming company. For a while it looked
as though Ellis might become the largest city in the area, but
when the Tracy site was made the junction point of several
rail lines by the Central Pacific in 1878 the inhabitants of Ellis
picked up their buildings and moved to Tracy.
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ONE DECADE LATER. A 1973 photograph of the same site, but from a different
angle. All traces of the cemetery are now gone. Only the solitary post remains to
mark the general area.

x1 1{
|
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MAP OF SAN JOAQUIN CITY AREA showing the streetls as
lard out in 1889, This is a relatively modern county road map.
Note the changes that have occurred in the San Joagquin River
channel. For years barges and steamboats docked all along
Durham’s Levee - thanks to the work of the government
dredges. Army engineers state that Ulysses 8. Grant onge
operated one of these dredges on the San Joaquin, and it is
interesting tc note that an existing San Joaquin City Hotel
register does contain his signature. Courtesy of the author,
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TALES OF OLD SAN JOAQUIN CITY (con’t)

Near the intersection of Greenwood and River roads, on the
south end of San Joaquin City, there was in the early davs a
huge wooden sign in the shape of an inverted horseshoe, its
points stuck in the ground, and arched across its top in black
letters three feet high, the greeting: “WELCOME TO SAN
JOAQUIN CITY." The sign faced the southwest and
remained there until about 1918,

San Joaquin City was an imporiant shipping point for the
thousands of tons of grain that made its way to Stockton and
San Francisco from the big grain farms of the area. but with
the coming of the Southern Pacific Railroad down the West
Side (from Tracy to Fresno) in 1887 the city was destined
never to play a leading role in the further development of the
West Side Plains. As in other parts of California. having the
railroad bypass a settlement was the same as the kiss of
death. The next year the postoffice was transferred from San
Joaquin City to a new settlement along the railroad just a few
miles to the west: Vernalis.

The name Vernalis was coined from the given names of two
San Joaquin City belles of that day -- daughters, incidentally,
of two ranchers “‘progressive” enough to give the Southern
Pacific the right-of-way through their lands. They were

EDITOR'S NOTES:
1 Frank T. Gilbert, History of S8an Joaquin County, California
{Oakland: Thompson and West, 1878). p. 28,

2 The Georgina {also spelied Georgiana) visited San Joaquin City, Grayson,
and Tuolumne City (spelled Toalome ana Toualome) for the first time about
the twenty-fifth of Apni. 1850. judging from the news articie dated the 27th.
On the 24th the Times ran an adveriisement for the Georgina. noting that
1t was a “new and fine passenger steamer” and that it "will run regularly
during the season of high water” on a semjweekly scheduie. The May 4th
1ssue of the Times described the Georgina's maiden trip up the San Joaguin
and the Tuolumne rivers and its stops at San Joaguin City. Grayson, and
Tuoiumne City.

3 George M. Kasson, for whom Kasson Road (formerly River Road) was
named, had come fo California during the Gold Rush. After spending
approximately 18 months in the Placerviile area he returned to his
Connecticut home. Soon after he came back to California and began
ranching along the Merced River. From there he moved south to Fresno
County, where he engaged in the sheep business for a number of years. In
1868 he came to San Joaquir City, finally buying some 5.200 acres of land
north of San Joaguin City and west of the niver that Holt had recently
purchased as part of a bigger parcel.

Louis Gerlach, the other purchaser of Holt property, also acquired a
sizable parcel west of the river about thig time. and he became one of the
wealthiest men in 8an Joaquin County. He eventually sold this property in

INDEX TO VOLUME

Verna Carpenter and Alice Hamilton,

Coupled with the coming of the railroad down the West Side
of the valley was the growing navigation problem on the San
Joaquin, Changes in the river channel as well as the
diminishing amount of water (due to the introduction of
irrigation: made it more and more difficult for boats to make
thetr way up to San Joaguin City. In time its reason for being
graduallv disappeared: no longer were miners rushing
through on their way to the Mother Lode: no longer were the
boats able to come up to pick up their cargoes of grain; no
longer was the old River Road essential for transportation
and communication as it had been for nearly 30 vears.

When Henryv Fisk took title to the north half of the San
Joaqguin City site in the 1890’s he began the process of
clearing the land titles on many of the empty lots. The Ohms
did the same thing with their south half of the site. Gradually
the huildings all disappeared and the land once more was
farmed. The West Side Hotel and Saloon and a few other
scattered buildings stood deserted until after World War 1,
when thev finally fell prey to the ravages of time and the
wreckers,

{To Be Continued in Next Issue)

order to be abte to devote more time to his banking business in Stockton
and his 30.000-acre cattie ranching operation in Nevada. Gerlach, Nevada,
on the route of the Western Pacific Rallroad, was founded by him and later
named for fum. The San Joaguin River Club subdivision (west of the river
and immediately north of Arport Way) 1s now iocated on the southeastern
cormer of the old Geriach ranch.

Ey

See fooinote number 5.

o

An H Fiske not to be confused with Henry C. Fisk, Sr., whose sister
Cecelia was married to Larry B, Holty appears in the story of San Joaquin
Cily. but rather elusively. According to Thompson and West (History of San
Joaquin County, California; he arrived in San Joaguin County in 1850 and in
1879 gave tus address as San Joaqguin City and histed ownership of 2,000
acres of land in Tulare Township. 1t is not clear whether this was originally
a part of tne Holt property or not. but according to Earle Williams Fiske
nad marned Larry Holt's sister. He was apparently connected with Durham
at che ume in the operation of the terry at San Joaquin City. Larry Holt died
in May of 1889, and evidently left all of his property to his widow, Cecelia.
(Note the 1895 county map in the previous issue [Vol. {X. No. 2, April-June,
1973] of the Historian. Mrs. Holt is listed as the owner of a huge biock of
tand extending from the Durham Ferry crossing south to Greenwood Road,
and southwestward almost to the Southern Pacitic Railroad right-of-way.
The 1905 county map - same issue of the Historian - reflects the change in
awnership from Holt to Fisk and Ohm.} Mrs. Holt died in 1801,

IX, NUMBERS 1 - 4

vol. 1X, No. 1 JANUARY - MARCH, 1973 pp. 1-6 The Rise of Stockion
vol. IX, No. 2 APRIL - JUNE, 1873 pp. 7-14 Tales of Old San Joaquin City

Vol. IX, No. 3 JULY - SEPTEMBER, 1973

pp. 15-22 Tales of Old San Joaquin City

Vol. IX, No. 4 OCTOBER - DECEMBER, 1973 pp. 23-32 Tales of Old San Joaquin City

Adameville {Stanislaus County) 8. 22

Asrport WayiRoad).7.11,13.17.26.27.30

Albany (New Yorky. 3

Alemany {Archbishop) Joseph 8., 5

Alpaugh Sand Ridge (Calif ), 9

Amador County. 5

Amador Indians. 5

American River. 20 8. 8. 23

Amertcan trappers tonSan Joaquin River),
8

Antinch (Canf.}, 21

Apslamenes (Indians). 8. 9. 12

Appetarmany (Stamsiaus Rivery, 8

Arhor Boad (Tracy: 18

Argonauts. 1826

Ashe, (O} R P22

Atnerton & Davis (Ranchy, 22

Balumore (Md 1. 23

Baocrail Hubert H. (authory. 21

Banta-Carbona lrngation Distngt 27

Bunta, Henry C . 18, 21

Bantas (Cahf).7. 16 - 18: 20.21.23.27
casgription of 17 - 22

Ba~a. Wilham, 21

Bethany (Cahf 1 18, 21

Bidwel-Bartisson Party, 1

Biewetl Hoad, 27

Briard, James. 27
Borneving, tCapt ) Benjarmin, @
2l Jacob. 15

Mass ) 12 18
Giadys, 113
Samuer, 8 15 - 17 21

shigt 18 21
o Jack authon 12
Breoan Jonn Henry, 11 13
Bryant Edwan. 13
Buckia~gd Alondus. 17

era Vista Lake Calily 9
aryg Cook, 4

Buffum, C. 4. 22
Calaveras River. 5. 11, 13
Califorria. 1, 5. 23, 27. 30
Goid Rush. 7. 8. 26. 30
Swate Park Commussion. 13
Carpenter. Verna, 30
Carrett Edward B 18, 20 - 22: 24
Casa Blanca, 23, 24, 27. 28
vship. 23
Certgr S tSwocktony, 2 8
Cerira Pacilic Railroad, 16 18, 20, 21,
25 29
Central Valley (of Calif.), 8 13
Centre Strest (San Joaguin City). 28
Caamberiain, {(Mr .18
Cherokees tndians:. 28
Crisese n Cahbi 18 18
Ciark & Henary Construction Co . 27
Cipar Lake (Cahfy 13
Crast Range Mts 8. 13. 23. 24
Coomma (Canty 205028

Castorna T



http:20.2'.23.27
http:11.1.7.16
http:A,rportWayIRoad).7.11

ip

nd

he
en
he
ed
he
he
ns
he
ve
ps
se
ly
ar

INDEX TO VOLUME IX, NUMBERS 1-4

Coiumbia Steel (Oregon). 10
Comet {stupl. 15, 16, 21
Connecticut, 30
Contra Costa County. 5
Carral Hollow (Caintf.), 10 - 14; 18, 20-26
photo of. 14
Raifroad, 21
Cowan. Robert {author), 12
Cox. Jehnme, 23, 25
Cox, Witham, 23
Cox, Witham Jr.. 23
Davis, Red. 3, 4. 6
Del Puerto Canyon {Calif.), 23
Delta, 18, 19
reclamation of. 18, 19
Dent. Vantine & Co., 27
De Smet. (Rev.) Pierre, 2
Doak & Bonsall Ferry, 8, 18, 21, 25, 26
Doak, Jobhn. 15
Donner-Reed Party. 11
Dreyer. Ana (Anna). 28
Dreyer, Chardes, 14, 17, 21, 28
Dreyer Hotel & Saloon, 28
photo of, 28
Dry Creek (Centrat Valley), 11, 13, 17
Durham Ferry, 7,15,18,25-27; 29. 30
description of, 27
Durham Ferry bridge, 27
photo of, 27
Durham Ferry Road. 7. 10. 11, 13, 27
Durham's Levee, 29
El Arroyo de las Buenos Aires, 11, 22
El Camino Vigjo, 11 - 13, 26
E: Campo de los franceses, 2, §
Elder. Turner, 13
El Dorado Street (Stockton}, 3. 4, 22
Election results, San Joaguin City, 22
Eik Horn Inn, 17, 18, 21. 23
Elhis (San Joaquin Col), 186, 21, 28
El Nide {San Joaquin Co.), 25
Ei Pescador (land grant). 8, 12
Empire City (Calif.). 22
Evans, Robert, 9
Evans, Tom. 25
Felix, Rafael, 8
Ferry crossings, San Joaguin County,
25 - 27
Firebaugh (Calif.). 26
Fisk, Cecelia, 27, 30
Fisk, Henry C. Jr., 13, 27, 29, 30
Fisk. Henry C. &r., 2, 27, 30
Fiske, H........ 24, 27, 30
Flint. A. K., 22
Fort Bridger, Wyoming. 11
Fort Millerton (Calit.). 13
Fort Ross (Calif.}. 24
Fort Vancouver (B.C.}, &
Freight wagons (photo}. 3
Fremant, John C.. 8
French Camp (Calif.), 2. 5. 22
Toli Road. 25
French Canadians. 2. 5
Fresro (Calif.l. 30
Fresno County, 30
Front Street {San Joaquin City), 28
Georgina {ship), 27. 30
Gerlach, Louis, 27. 30
Gerlach {Nevada;. 30
Germany. 27
Gilbert. {Coly FU T, sauther, 16, 30
Goble. Sias. 8
Grant Line Hoad (San Joagquin Co.j, 11
Grant, (Presidenty Utlyses §.. 29
Grayscn, A J.. 26
Grayson {Cahf.). bridge. 26
Graysconiviite) (Calid.}. 7. 8. 20, 23 - 26, 30
Grayson's Ferry, 7. 24, 26
Green River, Wyoming. 9
Greenwood, Britton, 11
Greenwood, Caleb. 8, 11, 13
Greenwood, Hoyle, 12
Greenwood, John. 11
Greenwood Road (San Joaguin Co.), 12,
27, 29. 30

SAN JOAQUIN HISTORIAN

Grimes. Hiram, 8

Grissim, Henry, 8. 17

Gulrac. Wiham. 2. 3. &

Gumtree Ranch, 27

Haggin Proneer Museum. 21

Hamburg. Germany. 27

Hamilton. Alice, 30

Hamtton, (Rev ) H. M.. 28

Hammond, (Major; B. P, 3

Hartmann. Hka {authory, &

Hays. (Coly Jack. 23

Heath & Emory. 22

Henry. AL E 17

Henry Fink Grove (San Joaguin Co.). 17
ohotc of. 17

Highway 132. 12

Highway 120, 21

Higuera. Valentin, 8

Hiikent, Ana {Dreyer), 28

Hilken. Bertha. 28

Hilken, Herman, 28

Hilken, Josie. 28

Hill's Ferry (Calif.), 7. 8, 20 - 23
photo of, 20, 21

Hog Isiand. 19

Hohiday Inn (Stockton), &

Holty Sugar Plant (Tracy). 18

Hoit, Larry B.. 24, 27, 28, 30
onginal home (photo), 28

Homburg. Germany, 1

Hooters Damm, 11, 13

Hopkins, (Dr.} ... 17

Hospial Canyon (San Joaguin Co.l. 27

Hospital Creek (San Joaquin Co.}. 11-13,
26

“Hounds” (in Calif.}, 4

Houston, Sam. 1

Hoyt, Frank {photo}, 13

Hudson Bay Company. 2. 5

Hudson Bay trappers. 24

Humboldt River, 8

Hunter Street (Stockton}, 2

Immigrant Peak {Calif.). 11, 13

Imus, Charles A.. 11

Imus. Charles C.. 11

imus, (Capt.) Charles M., 11,12, 14 - 16
18. 23. 27. 28

independence {Mo.}), 11

Inchans (of Calif.). 2. 5. 8. 12. 16

Isbel, (Dr.), 1. C.. 13

Isbel, James, 13

lsbell's Ranch (San Joaquin Co.), 22

Jack Tone Road. 5

Jedediah Smith Expedition. 8, 9

Johnson's Ferry 8. 16, 18, 19. 26

Johnson's Ranch. 11

Jose Jesus (indian). 2. 5

Jose Jesus Street (Stocktom, 5

Jurgs. (Capt.) .. . 4

Justiceof thePeace(SandoaguinCity). 27

Kasson. George M.. 27, 30

Kasson Road. 7. 11,12, 23, 27 23. 30

Kelly, Charles {authorl 13

Kennedy. Helen (Weber). 5

Kentucky. 23. 24

Kerlinger Plant {Tracy). 10

Kerr, (Capt.y George, 4

Kettlernan Ciy (Cahfy 13

Kings County, 13

Kings River @

Knight's Ferry, 22, 26 27

Koster Road. 16

La Casa Blanca. 12

La Grange (Cahf ) 22

Laird Slough. 26

Lattrop (Caiif 1. 13

Laure) Avenue (Tracyl. 19

Lawrence. John, 22

Leonard. Zenas, 9

Lindsay Point (Stocktony, 5

Lindsay Street (Stockton), 5

Lindsay, Thomas, 5

Little White House, 18, 19

Livermore Pass, 17, 18

PAGE 31

Livermare Soda Works, 21

Livermore Valley, 13, 20

Lone Tree Canyon. 20

Los Angeles (Calif.}. 3, 23

Lyons, Mickey. 3, 4. 6

Maino. Jeanette (author, 22

Main Street (San Joaquin City), 29

Main Street (Stockton). 3, 22

Marcy. w. G., 22

Maria {ship). 4

Marsh, John, 2, 5

McCaffery, A, 18, 21

McCloud Stage Line, 19

McDowell. Paxton, 20

McMuilin & Trajern. 23

McMuiiin, (Capt.) John, 23, 24, 27
background of, 23, 24
photo of, 24

McMullin Road. 24

McSpedon. Thomas, 22

Merced River, 9. 23, 31

Merrili. Caleb-String, 18

Mexican-American War, 3, 23, 24

Mexicans (in Calif.}, 12, 20

Mexico, 1, 23

Mexico City, 23

Miiler & Lux Corporation, 20, 24

Medesto (Calif.), 20

Mohr, John, 21

Moh's Landing {(San Joaguin Co), 16,
18. 21

Mokelumne Hill {Calif.}, €

Mokelumneg River, 13, 17, 26, 27

Monterey-Sutter’'s Fort Trail, 11, 13

Moraga Expedition. 8

Moraga. Gabriel, 8. 9

Morgan, Dale (author), 13

Maorgan, Eliza Fleming, 23

Mormons (in Calif.), 15 - 17 21

Mossdale Y7, 8. 13. 15, 18, 21, 25
photo of, 25

Mother Lode, 1, 5, B, 18, 20, 21, 27, 30

Mount Diablo (Calif.). 28

Murphy, John, 3

Nagiee. Henry M., 8

Naglee's Ferry, 21

Nevada, 30

New Hope Colony, 3.7, 8, 1517; 21
description of, 1-4; 15-17
flooding of. 17

New Jerusalem School, 10, 13
phato of, 10

Newman (Cahf.), 20 - 22
Jubtlee Committee. 20 - 22

New Qrleans, 1

Niblett, Jean (Rhodes), 28

Northern Mires, &

North Street (San Joaguin City), 29

Oakland (Calif.;, 21

O'Brien, John, 21

OFarrell, Jasper, 3

Qhm. (Mrs.} Henry C.. 29

Chm Jacob, 27

Ohm, John, 7. 24, 27, 28, 30

Ohm, William T.. 14

Qig Fiver, 16, 18, 19. 21. 29

Ophir Street (Stockton). 27

Oregon. 2

Pacheco Pass. 20, 23

Paciic Cernter for Western Historical
Studtes., 6

Pacific Coal Mining Company. 21

Pacitic Ocean. 9

Paradise {San Joaquin County), 17

Paradise (Stamslaus County), 22

Paradise Cut. 16, 21

Paradise Tract, 19

Patterson (Caht.y, 7. 23

Pattersan. J., 22

Panerson. Nathaniel Greene, 24

Palterson Pass (Calif.). 24

Pescadero {land grant), 8. 12

Pico, Antanio M., 8

Pioneer Museumn & Haggun Galleries, 25


http:Jeded.ae

PAGE 32

INDEX TO VOLUME

Pittsburgh. Pennsylvama, 3
Placerville (Calif.). 30
Polling places. San Joaguin County. 22
Pyle. Thomas, 13
Rancho los Medanos. 5
Rasura {camp site). 8
Rathjen. John A, Sr.. 27
Reagan. (Gov.) Ronald, 1
Red's Tent (San Joaquin County). 22
Rhodes, (Mrs.} A, J. {Tom), 28, 29
Rhodes, Earl. 28
Ricketts. Norma tauthory, 21
Riecks. (Shentf) William. 17
Ripon (Canf.y, 21
Fiver Road. 7, 11,112,117 - 20: 23,24, 27 -
29: 30
description of, 17,18
River Rock Gravel Piant, 10
Robertson, M. T.. 22
Russians (in Calif.). 24
Sacramento (Calif ), 5. 13, 26
Sacramento Rwver, 3
Salt Lake (Utah), 8. 9. 21
San Francisce (Calif), 2. 3. 5.8, 15-18:
21, 24. 28. 30
San Gavriel Mission, 8
San Joaquin Oity (Calitl), 7-14; 15, 17,
18, 20 - 3C
cemetery, 28, 29
photo of, 29
description of, 28, 29
early bunal. 24, 25
tand ownership in, 27
iocation of, 7
map (photo}, 12
monument (photo), 13
phote of. 7
settlement of, 11. 12
subdivision map {photo), 28
subdivision of, 29
San Joaguin City Hotel, 29
San Joaquin County. 8,10 - 13 17, 20 -
27: 30
San Joaquin County
flooding in, 13
iand grants of, 8
map (photo), 1t
Mormons in, 15 - 17
San Joaguin County Fair Association, 24
San Joaquin County Historical Society, 13
San Jeaqguin Delta College, 1
San  Joaguin  Pioneser &  Historical
Socety, 21
San Joaquin Plains Baptist Church, 28
San Joaquin Republican (newspaper), 4
San Joaquin River, 2-5; 7-9; 11-23;
25-27. 29. 30
photo of, 15, 26
San Joaquin River Club, 30
San Joaquin Valley, 8. 9, 12,13, 15, 20,
21,23
description of. 8
San Jose (Calif.). 2, 18. 21
San Jose Mission, 5. 13
San Lumis Dam, 23
San Luis Gonzaga (Pacheco Pass), 8
Santa Ciara Mission, 8
Schnabel, Ernest, 27
Sharpe's Lane, 27
Sherman Street {San Joaquin City). 29
Sherrman, W. T.. 28
Sierra Nevada (Mountans), 3.8.9,11. 26
Siyakumna {Indhanst. 2. 5
Siocum's Ferry, 18, 26
Sioughtown (8tocktonj. 3
Srruth, Jedediab, 8. @, 12, 13
Sruth, Johnny H. 18
Smith, Wallace (author). 12
Sonora (Cahf ), 20
Sonora Pass, 2
Southern Mines 2-5: 8. 17, 20, 23, 26
Southern Pacific Railroad. 7. 8. 12, 18.
21, 22. 30
Sauth Street (San Joaguin City), 29

IX,

SAN JOAQUIN HISTORIAN

NUMBERS

Spooner, J P 1

Sarstaus Gy «Cahfy 8,17, 21, 27

Starmsiaus County, 1213, 20, 21, 23, 27

Stanislaus River. 5, 7-9: 12, 1517 21,
23, 24. 27

Staple s Ferry, 13

Stewart Tract (San Joaquin Co ). 18. 19

St Lows, Missourt. 1

St. Mary's Church (Stocktony, 5

Stockion{Calit.), 2-6:8.17-21:25-27. 30
cescription of. 3-5

fire in. 4. 6

photo of 2 4
pest otfice in, 4
settlement of, 2-4

Stockton Channet. 2. 4. 6
photo of, &

Stockton Miming Company. 5

Stockton-Pueblo San Jose trall. 17

Stockton. (Commodore) Robert F.. 3

Stockton-San Jose Stage Route. 23. 26

Stockton Stage Road. 19

Stockton Daily Independent inewspaper),
13, 21

Stockton Record {newspaper). 26

Stockton Times (newspager). 4. 18, 21.
22.27. 3G

Stout, Wiitham, 16

Siurgeon Bend. 8, 9. 11-13: 1517

Susanne (stup). 4

Sutherland. George W.. 25

Sutter. (Capt.} John. 2

Sutter's Fort. 1. 2. 11

© Sydney Coves’. 4

© Sydney Ducks™. 4

Taylor. Bayard tauthori. 2. 5. 6

Tehachap (Mountains), 23

Texas. 1. 23. 24

Thompson, ... .., 20

Titus & Manly {ferry), 26, 27

Tom Paine Slough, 16, 18, 18. 21
photo of, 18, 19

Tracy (Calif.), 7. 8. 10, 16. 18, 20. 21.
24. 29

Trajern. George W., 23. 24

Trajern Road.

Tulare Lake (Caht.). 9

Tulare Township, 10. 16, 18, 21, 30
map (photo), 18

Tuleberg {Stockton, 3

Tuclumne Ciy {Cality. 8, 17, 20-22, 30
descniption of, 20

Tuolumne River, 8. 20, 21, 24, 26. 30

Twelve Aposties (Mormon)y, 17

Two Rivers Road. 11

Union istand, 18

U 8 Hotel (Stockton), 4

University of the Pacific, 1-6

Van Camp. J.. 27

Vv Covert Martun photo collection, 2-5

Vera Gruz., Mexico. 23

Vernahs (Canf.y, 12, 13, 23, 27. 30
estabhshment of. 30

Viader. {Rev.) Jose. 8, 9. 12

Vigiiance Comrmittee (§tockton). 4

Von Bremen. Revecca. 27

Walker Expedition. 9. 24

Walker. Joseph H.. 8 9. 11

Walker's Pass. 11

Waltha!l, Madison Sr.. 21

Walthall Slough. 18, 21

Warnar, 1Col.l. J J.. 8

Wwashigton. D C . 3. 23

Weber Avenue (Stackion), 2 4. 8

Weber, (Capt } Charles M.. 1-6. 21
early ufe ol 1
emigration to Californa, 2
astablished land grant 2
photo of. 1

Weber. (Mrs.} Helen (Murphy). 3. 5

Weber Home (photod. 5

Weber, (Missh Juha. &

Weber Paint (Stockion). 3, §

Wesiern Pacihic Railroad, 13. 30

1-4

West Lane (Stocklont 5
Wesion & Staples’ Ferry, 26. 27
West Side (Bar Joaguin Valley). 7 - 91 12,
21, 22. 26. 30
West Side Hotel & Bar (Bantas)
photo of. 19
West Swde Motel & Saloon (8an Joaguin
Cityy 25. 30
West Streel (San Joaquin City). 29
White Chapel Springs. Va.. 24
White House {Bantas), 18-20
Whitney Geological Survey. 29
Wickiand (San Joaquin County), 8. 16,
21,29
William Cox Read, 23
Wilthams., Benjarmin, 22
Witirams, Earle E. (author). 7.
22,30
brography of, 10
choto of, 10
Williams, Elingr Counihan, 10
Wood. (Or.j R. Coke {author}
miography of, 1. 6
Woodside (Caht.y, 9. 18
Yosemite Valley, 9
Young. Brigham. 16, 17. 21

10, 13,

Persons interested in doing research on local history,
whether members of the Society or not, are invited to
submit their manuscripts for publication in the
Historian. The editor must, however, reserve the right
to accept or reject and/or edit all material and
photographs submitted.

While none of the original material printed in the
quarterly is copyrighted, we would appreciate
acknowledgement of the source by anyone using any
portion thereof.

SAN JOAQUIN HISTORIAN
The Quarterly of the
SANJOAQUINCOUNTYHISTORICALSOCIETY.INC.
Published Four Times Each Year
P.O. Box 21, Lodi, California 95240
Editer: Robert Bonta

The San Joaquin County Historical Society, a
non-profit corporation, meets the fourth Monday of
each month except for July and August. Annual
mermmberships are: Individual - $5.00, Corporate - $8.00,
and Junior - $1.00. and include a subscription to the San
Joaquin Historian. Non-members may purchase
individual copies from the Society’s Secretary at $1.00
per copy. The Society also operates the San Joaquin
Couniyv Historical Museum at Micke Grove. Persons
wishing to donate items should contact the Museum
Director.

Officers of the
SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY
Mrs. Elwood L. Mvers President
Edward Pico ............. ... . ... ... .. Vice-President
Mrs. Howard W. Linsley Secretary
Hart Wilson Treasurer

DIRECTORS
Dr. Howard T. Letcher
Dr. Alfred B. Webber

Robert Bonta
Mrs, Orrin D, Kettelman, Sr,

SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY HISTORICAL
Mrs. L. Philip (Medora) Johnson . ... ... ..
Micke Grove Park
11793 N. Micke Grove Road. Lodi. California
Phone area 209 368-9154 P.0. Box 21, Lodi, Calif. 95240

MUSEUM
Director



http:12,13.15.20
http:23.24.27
http:7.11.12.17

